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OPINION

In this attorney disciplinary action, Frederick L. Risker, Jr., appeals his disbarment
on the groundsthat: (1) the conducting of some of thetrial court’ s proceedings outside Fort
Bend County and/or after thetrial court’ s plenary jurisdiction expired rendersthe judgment
void; (2) proceeding with this case after Risker filed bankruptcy violated the bankruptcy
court’ sautomatic stay; (3) theaward of restitution violated the bankruptcy court’ sdischarge
order; (4) thetrial court erred in admitting evidence contrary to certain judicial admissions

and in denying Risker’ s proposed jury instruction regarding those admissions; (5) thetria



court erred inrefusing to strikethe Commission’ sexpert witness; and (6) thetrial court erred
in admitting numerous exhibits over Risker’s objections. We affirm.
Background

The State Bar of Texas, through the Commission for Lawyer Discipline (the
“Commission”), brought this disciplinary action against Risker in 1998, alleging violations
of the TexasDisciplinary Rulesof Professional Conduct (the* conduct rules’) in connection
with Risker’'s representation of JesusVeliz and the Jesus Veliz Trust (the “trust”).! Risker
elected to havethe complaint heard in adistrict court by atrial denovo.? The Commission’s
petition wasfiled in Fort Bend County, the county of Risker’ sresidence and principal place
of practice.®> The Texas Supreme Court appointed the Honorabl e Stephen Ellis, Judge of the
35th District Court,* to preside over the case.®

Risker filed apetitionfor Chapter 7 bankruptcy in February of 1999 and aSuggestion
of Bankruptcy inthetrial court in July of 1999, about six weeksbeforetrial was set to begin.
Although Risker urged the court to stay the proceedings due to the bankruptcy, trial began
in August of 1999.

! Ultimately, the Commission alleged that Risker violated the following conduct rules: 1.04(a) (a
lawyer shall not enter into an arrangement for, charge, or collect an illegal or unconscionable fee);
1.14(b) (alawyer shall promptly deliver to the client or third person any funds or other property that
the client or third person is entitled to receive and upon request by the client or third person, shall
promptly render afull accounting regarding such property); and 8.04(a)(3) (alawyer shall not engage
in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation). TEX. DISCIPLINARY R. PROF' L
CONDUCT 1.04(a), 1.14(b), 8.04(a)(3), reprinted in TEX. Gov’ T CODE ANN., tit. 2, subtit. G app. A
(Vernon 1998) (TEX. STATEBARR. art. X, §9). The Commission requested areprimand, suspension,
or disbarment; restitution; and other relief, including costs and attorney’ s fees.

2 See TEX. R. DISCIPLINARY P. 3.01, reprinted in TEX. Gov’' T CODE ANN., tit.2 subtit. G app. A-1
(Vernon 1998).

3 Seeid.

4 The 35th Judicial District consists of Brown and Mills Counties.

° See TEX. R. DISCIPLINARY P. 3.02 (requiring the supreme court to appoint an active district judge

who does not reside in the same Administrative Judicial Region as the respondent).
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At the conclusion of trial, the jury found that Risker knowingly charged an
unconscionablelegal feetothetrust. Thetrial court entered judgment that Risker’ sconduct
violated conduct rules 1.04(a) (for charging an unconscionablefee) and 1.14(b) (for failing
to provide a prompt accounting).® After conducting a separate evidentiary hearing on
sanctions,” the trial court announced that Risker would be disbarred and required to pay
restitution of $100,000 to the trust as a condition to be considered for reinstatement.

However, beforethefinal judgment was signed, the bankruptcy court issued an order
releasing Risker from all dischargeable debts. Thetrial court entered the final judgment of
disbarment, and Risker filed amotion to modify it, becauseit conflicted with the bankruptcy
court’ sdischarge order. Thetrial court denied that motion.

Out-of-County Proceedings

Risker’ sfirst two points of error contend that the judgment is void because thetrial
court conducted pre-trial and post-trial proceedings outside the geographical jurisdiction of
the 240th District Court of Fort Bend County. A district court must conduct its proceedings
at the county seat of the county in which the case is pending, except as otherwise provided
by law.® If adistrict court sits outside its jurisdictional geographic area, those proceedings
are fundamentally defective and any order based on them is void. Mellon Serv. Co. v.
ToucheRoss & Co., 946 SW.2d 862, 866 (Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 1997, no writ).

6 TEX. DISCIPLINARY R. PROF'L CONDUCT 1.04(a), 1.14(b). At the close of evidence, the trial court
granted Risker’s motion for directed verdict regarding his alleged failure to file an accounting, but
Risker stipulated that the accounting was untimely filed. Because the jury did not answer the
guestion whether Risker knowingly engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or
mi srepresentation arising out of hisservice asalawyer for thetrust, thetrial court directed averdict
for Risker on the Commission’s fraud claim.

7 See TEX. R. DISCIPLINARY P. 3.10.

8 TEX.CONST. art. V, 8 7; see TEX.R. DisCIPLINARY P. 3.03 (requiring all proceedingsincident to the
trial de novo of adisciplinary action to take place in the county of the respondent’ s principal place
of practice). For suits filed on or after September 1, 1999, a judge with jurisdiction over a suit
pending in one county may conduct any judicial proceedings except the trial on the meritsin a
different county, provided no party objects. TEX. Gov’' T CODE ANN. § 74.094(e) (Vernon Supp.
2002).



In this context, the term “proceeding” is very broad and thus not limited to only those
occasions where evidence is received or judgment is entered.’

In this case, the parties™® and Judge Ellis participated in four pre-trial telephone
conference calsinitiated from Judge Ellis’'s courtroom in Brown County.** Because these
phone conferenceswere conducted outside Fort Bend County, any ordersbased onthemare
void. SeeMellon, 946 SW.2d at 866. However, we disagree with Risker’ s suggestion that
those out-of-county proceedingsautomatically tainted thetrial and madethejudgment void.
In both Mellon and DeShazo, the final judgment had to be vacated because it was itself a
direct consequence of the void proceeding.*? By contrast, in this case, Fort Bend County
was where trial was held, the hearing on post-trial motions for judgment occurred, and the
final jJudgment was signed. Becausethereisno indication that thetrial court’ sjudgmentin
this case was “based on” any extra-territorial proceedings, we conclude that the judgment
is not void due to the out-of-county pre-trial proceedings.

We thus consider whether Risker has demonstrated that a reversal is otherwise
dictated by the voiding of any of the ordersthat resulted from the phone conferences. These
ordersincluded: (1) granting the Commission’s request for leave to late-file responses to
Risker’ s requestsfor production and denying Risker’ s motion for discovery sanctions; and
(2) granting the Commission’ s motion for continuance. Asto thelatter, Risker arguesthat

postponing thetrial based on avoid continuance order violated: (1) hisright to aspeedy tria

° Mellon, 946 S\W.2d at 868, 870 (concluding that a summary judgment hearing held outside the
county seat of the county in which the suit was pending rendered the resulting summary judgment
order void); DeShazov. Hall, 963 S.W.2d 958, 960 (Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 1998, nowrit)
(concluding that apost-trial hearing on cross-motionsfor judgment conducted outside the county in
which the case was pending was fundamentally defective, making the trial court’ s final judgment
void).

10 Risker appeared pro se throughout the proceedings.

u Each telephone conference call was transcribed and later filed with the Fort Bend County District
Clerk. Therecord indicates that Judge Elliswas in Brown County during each call.

12 See DeShazo, 963 S.W.2d at 960 (hearing on cross-motions for judgment); Mellon, 946 SW.2d at
866 (summary judgment hearing).



under the Texas Constitution, and (2) the 180-day deadline for commencing trial under the
Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure (the “procedure rules’).®* However, because the
speedy trial requirement of the Texas Constitution applies only to criminal prosecutions
intheordinary sense,™ and because attorney disciplinary proceedingsin Texasarecivil (not
criminal),™ Risker had no constitutional right to aspeedy trial that could have been violated
by the continuance.

Regarding the 180-day rule, the record reflects that trial began on August 24, 1999,
more than 180 days after the disciplinary petition was filed on September 18, 1998. In
addition, because the trial court’s order continuing thetrial date until August 24 was void,
the postponement violated therule. However, disciplinary procedurerule 15.07 specifically
identifiesthe procedure rulesthat establish mandatory time periods, and procedurerule 3.07
isnot among them. See TEX. R. DISCIPLINARY P. 15.07. All other time periodsaredirectory
only, and the failure to comply with them does not result in the invalidation of an act or
event by reason of the noncompliance with those time limits. Id. Therefore, the failureto
comply with the 180-day deadline does not mandate reversal of the judgment, particularly
in the absence of an objection in the trial court by Risker to its failure to comply with
procedure rule 3.07.

Risker also contends that the trial court prevented him from exercising his right to
seek mandamusrelief under procedurerule 3.07 by failing to file the continuance order with
the Fort Bend County District Clerk’ s office until after trial began. Risker claimsthat this
madeit impossiblefor him to document thetrial court’ sviolation of procedurerule 3.07 in

order to seek mandamus relief to protect his right to be tried within 180 days. However,

13 See TEX. R. DISCIPLINARY P. 3.07 (requiring trial of adisciplinary action to commence within 180
days after the petition isfiled).

14 See TEX. CONST. art. I, 8 10 (“In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall have a speedy public
trial by an impartial jury.”).

1 See Ex parte Winfree, 153 Tex. 12, 263 SW.2d 154, 156 (1953).

16 Comm'n for Lawyer Discipline v. Benton, 980 S.\W.2d 425, 438 (Tex. 1998).
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Risker cites nothing in the record to show that he requested the trial court to file the order
any sooner or that he could not have obtained a copy of the unfiled order or proved its
existence for mandamus purposes by affidavit or otherwise.

Risker asserts that the trial court’s void orders alowing the Commission to file
untimely responsesto discovery requests and denying Risker’ smotion for sanctionsarealso
aground for reversal. However, because Risker’ sbrief contains no authoritiesor reasoning
to support this contention or show the effect of those orders on thetrial, it affords no basis
for relief. See TEX. R. App. P. 38.1(h).

In summary, although the trial court conducted pre-trial telephone conferences
outside Fort Bend County in violation of article V, section 7 of the Texas Constitution,
invalidating the trial court’s orders based on those proceedings, Risker has not shown that
any of the void orders provides a basis for this court to reverse the trial court’s judgment.
Accordingly, Risker’sfirst point of error isoverruled.

Post-Trial Orders

Risker’'s second point of error seeks reversal of the judgment due to a lack of
jurisdiction by thetrial court with respect to certain post-judgment orders. Final judgment
was entered in this case on October 21, 1999. Risker filed amotion to modify the judgment
on November 9 and an affidavit of indigence on November 22. On January 3, 2000, thetrial
court signed an order denying Risker’s motion. Risker filed anotice of appeal on January
6. On January 14, the court reporter filed a contest to Risker’s affidavit of indigence and
requested ahearing. Thetrial court signed an order on January 19, extending the time for
conducting ahearing and setting ahearing for January 27. Following ahearingin Fort Bend
County, the court denied Risker’ schallengeto its plenary jurisdiction and signed an agreed
order sustaining the contest to Risker’sindigency.

Risker contends that the January 3 and January 19 orders are void for being signed
outside Fort Bend County. However, therecord does not reflect whereeither of theseorders
was signed. Moreover, even if the court’s January 3 order denying Risker’s motion to

modify the judgment is void, the motion would nonetheless have been overruled by
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operation of law. TEX.R. Civ.P. 329b(c). Similarly, the court’ s January 19 order pertained
only to thetime of hearing the court reporter’ s contest to Risker’ saffidavit of indigence and
does not bear on the validity of thetrial court’s judgment on the merits.

Risker also claimsthat thetrial court exceeded itsplenary jurisdictionin entering the
agreed order on January 27, upholding the court reporter’ s contest to Risker’ s affidavit of
indigence. However, Risker’s motion to modify the judgment extended the trial court’s
plenary jurisdiction until 30 days after it was denied on January 3. Moreover, the trial
court’s authority to conduct the indigency hearing arises not from its plenary jurisdiction
under Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 329b, but from Texas Rule of Appellate Procedure
Rule 20.1(i), which Risker does not contend the trial court violated. Because Risker's
second point of error thus fails to demonstrate that any of the trial court’s post-judgment
ordersrequire areversal of thetrial court’sjudgment, and seeks no other relief with regard
to those orders, it is overruled.

The Bankruptcy Stay

As noted above, Risker filed a bankruptcy petition on February 11, 1999, and a
suggestion of bankruptcy with the Fort Bend County District Clerk fivemonthslater, on July
14. Risker’sthird and fourth points of error claim that all actionstaken in this case after he
filed the suggestion of bankruptcy viol ated the automatic bankruptcy stay and are, therefore,
void. Section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code provides:

(a) Except asprovided in subsection (b) of this section, a petition filed under
section 301, 302, or 303 of thistitle. . . operates as a stay, applicable to all
entities, of —

(1) the commencement or continuation . . . of ajudicia . .. action or
proceeding against the debtor . . . to recover aclaim against the debtor
that arose before the commencement of the case under thistitle. . . .

v See TEX. R. Civ. P. 329b(g) (amotion to modify ajudgment, if filed, shall be filed and determined
within the time prescribed by this rule for amotion for new trial and shall extend the trial court's
plenary power in the same manner as a motion for new trial); id. 329b(e) (if amotion for new trial
istimely filed by any party, thetrial court, regardless of whether an appeal has been perfected, has
plenary power to grant anew trial or to vacate, modify, correct, or reform the judgment until thirty
daysafter all suchtimely-filed motionsare overruled or by operation of law, whichever occursfirst).

Z



(b) Thefiling of apetition under section 301, 302, or 303 of thistitle. . . does
not operate as a stay—

(4) under paragraph (1), (2), (3), or (6) of subsection (a) of this
section, of the commencement or continuation of an action or
proceeding by a governmental unit . . . to enforce such governmental
unit’s. . . police and regulatory power . . ..

11 U.S.C. 8§ 362 (1993 & Supp. 2001). The Commission argues that this disciplinary
proceeding fallsunder the* police and regul atory power” exception in subsection 362(b)(4),
and therefore is not subject to the automatic stay. Although we have found no Texas case
addressing thisissue, courtsin other juri sdictionshave adopted the Commission’ sposition.*
We agree with these decisions and conclude that this disciplinary proceeding was for the
purpose of enforcing the Supreme Court’ s regulatory power over attorneys licensed by the
State.® Accordingly, thetrial court did not err in refusing to stay the proceedings until the
stay was lifted, and Risker’sthird and fourth points of error are overruled.
Restitution Award

Risker’sfifth point of error argues that the trial court erred in requiring him to pay
restitution to the trust as a condition of his reinstatement after the bankruptcy court issued
an order on September 23, 1999, releasing Risker from all dischargeable debts and
identifying as creditors Veliz and the trust for “claims for fiduciary breach liability as
trustee.” Thetrial court’s October 21, 1999 final judgment states, in part:

18 See InreWade, 948 F.2d 1122, 1124 (9th Cir. 1991) (holding that the Arizona State Bar “acts as
an instrumentality of the Arizona Supreme Court enforcing its police or regulatory power, and
therefore the disciplinary proceedings . . . are excepted from the automatic stay under 11 U.S.C. §
362(b)(4)"); Inre Friedman & Shapiro, P.C., 185 B.R. 143, 145 (S.D.N.Y. 1995); In re Williams,
158 B.R. 488, 491 (Bankr. D. |daho 1993); InreHanson, 71 B.R. 193, 194 (Bankr. E.D. Wis. 1987);
Cooper v. SateBar, 741 P.2d 206, 211 (Cal. 1987) (explaining that disciplinary proceedings are not
actions to obtain property of the bankruptcy estate, or those that will result in giving the estate a
pecuniary advantage over creditors of the debtor; but are proceedings to protect the public).

19 See TEX. Gov’'T CODE ANN. § 81.072 (Vernon 1998) (authorizing the Texas Supreme Court to
establish disciplinary procedures “[i]n furtherance of the supreme court’s powers to supervise the
conduct of attorneys’).



It isfurther ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that [Risker]
shall pay restitution to the Jesus Veliz Trust or its successor in interest, Jesus
Véiz in the amount of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) as a
condition of his disbarment [sic] asfollows:

1. All cashier’s checks shall be made payableto the Jesus Veliz Trust or
its successor in interest, Jesus Veliz;

2. Payment of restitution is required before any consideration of
reinstatement following disbarment . . . .

Althoughweagain find no Texas cases addressing thisquestion, courtsin other jurisdictions

have ruled against Risker’s position, and we agree with those decisions because of the

fundamentally different purposes of restitution and a bankruptcy discharge.”

Risker’ s reply brief further argues that the restitution sanction violates section 525

of the Bankruptcy Code, which states, in part:

[A] governmental unit may not deny, revoke, suspend, or refuse to renew a
license, permit, charter, franchise, or other similar grant to . . . a person that
is or has been a debtor under this title or a bankrupt or a debtor under the
Bankruptcy Act . . . solely because such bankrupt or debtor is or has been a
debtor under thistitle or a bankrupt or debtor under the Bankruptcy Act . . .
or has not paid a debt that is dischargeable in the case under thistitle or that
was discharged under the Bankruptcy Act.

11 U.S.C. § 525(a) (Supp. 2001) (emphasis added). We do not agree that restitution was

imposed in this case at all because (let alone solely because) of Risker’s status as a debtor

20

Seelnrelevine, 847 P.2d 1093, 1123 n.21 (Ariz. 1993) (holding that adischarge in bankruptcy from
an underlying civil judgment does not preclude the court from imposing a disciplinary sanction of
restitution as a term of probation because restitution is part of the rehabilitative process of the
disciplinary proceeding rather than areinstatement of any of the discharged civil judgments against
the debtor); Peoplev. Sullivan, 802 P.2d 1091, 1096 (Colo. 1990) (holding that ordering an attorney
to pay restitution to the beneficiaries of an estate he represented was a proper sanction, even though
ajudgment against him based on that representation wasaclaimin bankruptcy proceedings, because
the primary reason for requiring restitution is to allow the respondent to demonstrate his
rehabilitation prior to reinstatement); see also Kelly v. Robinson, 479 U.S. 36, 50 (1986) (holding
that bankruptcy does not discharge apreviousrestitution order fromacriminal case and acourt may
order restitutioninacriminal case of debtsthat have been discharged in bankruptcy); Cablav. Sate,
6 SW.3d 543, 546-50 (Tex. Crim. App. 1999) (holding that bankruptcy does not discharge a
restitution order imposed as a condition of probation).
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or his failure to pay a dischargeable debt.?* Rather, it was imposed solely because of
misconduct Risker committed well before he became a bankruptcy debtor.

Risker’ sfifth point of error also states that the trial court erred when it “refused to
delete theredtitution sanction . . . after the court had granted appellant adirected verdict on
the charges of dishonesty, fraud, misrepresentation and deceit.” However, because no
authority or argument is provided to support this contention, it affords no basis for relief.
See TEX. R. App. P. 38.1(h). Because we thus find no merit in the contentions supporting
Risker’ sfifth point of error, it is overruled.

Judicial Admissions

Risker’ ssixth point of error claimsthat thetrial court erred in: (1) admitting evidence
that contradicted the Commission’s responsesto Risker’ s requests for admissions; and (2)
refusing to submit ajury instruction on “judicial admissions as conclusive facts.”* Asto
thefirst contention, however, theonly such evidencethat Risker identifiesisasingleexhibit,
and Risker did not object to the admission of the exhibit on thisbasis at trial. See TEX. R.
APP. P. 33.1(a). In addition, because Risker’s brief does not explain how this exhibit
contradicts the Commission’s admissions, it fails to demonstrate error in the admission of

that evidence.

a See Brookman v. Sate Bar, 760 P.2d 1023, 1026 (Cal. 1988) (“[s]uch restitution is not imposed
‘solely because’ the attorney hasfailed to pay adebt discharged in bankruptcy; instead, itisimposed
in order to protect the public and to help rehabilitate the State Bar member.”). Risker seeks to
distinguish Brookman on the ground that restitution paymentsin that case were made to a State Bar
Client Security Fund, not, as here, directly to the underlying victim. However, thisdistinction does
not alter the sanction’ sunderlying purpose of “rehabilitating cul pable attorneys (and protecting the
public) by forcing the attorney to * confront, in concrete terms, the harm his actions have caused.’ ”
Id. (quoting Kelly v. Robinson, 479 U.S. 36, 49 n.10, 107 S. Ct. 353, 360 n.10 (1986)); see also
Sullivan, 802 P.2d at 1096 (concluding that an order to pay restitution for the benefit of a private
party, rather than a client security fund, is valid because the “primary reason” for imposing
restitution “is for the respondent to demonstrate his rehabilitation prior to reinstatement”).

2 See TEX. R. Civ. P. 198.3 (a matter that is admitted in response to a request for admissions is
conclusively established as to the party making the admission unless the court permits the party to
withdraw or amend the admission.)
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As to the second contention, Risker’'s requested jury instruction identified six
purportedly admitted facts and instructed the jury that those facts were “ established” in the
case. Risker argues that this instruction was necessary because the trial court erroneously
admitted evidence that contradicted these admissions. Again, however, Risker hasfailed to
point out any contradiction between any evidence and the Commission’s admissions.
Moreover, he cites no authority requiring a jury to be instructed on admitted facts, and
makes no showing that the failure to submit such an instruction could have affected the
jury’ s decision on the question to which the instruction would have pertained in this case.
Under these circumstances, Risker’s sixth point of error fails to demonstrate error and is
overruled.

Designation of Experts

Risker’ s seventh and eighth points of error arguethat thetrial court erred in denying
his motion to strike the testimony of the Commission’s expert witness due to the
Commission’ sfailureto designate theexpert by thedeadlines set forth inthe court’ soriginal
and revised scheduling orders. However, because those scheduling orders were based on
the pre-trial telephone conferences conducted by Judge Ellis outside of Fort Bend County,
both of those orders are void,”® and Risker has asserted no other basis to support the
untimeliness of the designations.

In addition, thefailureto identify awitnessin atimely manner requires exclusion of
that witness's testimony unless the court finds that:

(1) therewas good causefor thefailureto timely make, amend, or supplement
the discovery response; or

(2) the failure to timely make, amend, or supplement the discovery response
will not unfairly surprise or unfairly prejudice the other parties.

TeEX.R.Civ.P. 193.6(a) (emphasisadded). Inthiscase, thetrial court stated at atranscribed
pre-trial hearing (held in Fort Bend County) that it found no undue surprise or harm

resulting from the Commission’s manner of designating the expert, and Risker has not

= See Mellon, 946 SW.2d at 866.
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challenged that finding. Accordingly, Risker’'s seventh and eighth points of error fail to
demonstrate error in permitting the expert to testify and are overruled.
Admission of Evidence

Risker’s ninth and tenth points of error complain that the trial court erroneously
admitted thirty-three exhibitsinto evidence that were not properly authenticated, contained
hearsay, or both. However, the mgjority of the exhibitsidentified by Risker were either not
admitted into evidence or were admitted without objection. Asto the remaining exhibits,
Risker fails to make any showing whatever that their admission probably caused the
rendition of an improper judgment. See City of Brownsville v. Alvarado, 897 S.W.2d 750,
753 (Tex. 1995). Accordingly, we overrule Risker’s ninth and tenth points of error and

affirm thetrial court’s judgment.

/9 Richard H. Edelman
Justice

Judgment rendered and Opinion filed February 21, 2002.
Panel consists of Justices Edelman, Frost, Murphy.?
Publish — TEX. R. DISCIPLINARY P. 6.06.

2 Senior Chief Justice Paul C. Murphy sitting by assignment.
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